Design Research Project-IND402



Name: Kedong Chai

Student ID: 2140058 Xi'an Jiaotong-Liverpool University

Promoting Social Connections and The Inclusiveness of Mixed Reality Technologies by Design

January 2023

Acknowledgements

And I would like to acknowledge my supervisors Mengjie Huang and Richard Appleby, without whose help this work would not have been completed successfully. I would also like to thank all the teachers and friends who have been involved in this project and whose advice and suggestions have been extremely helpful in completing this project.

Abstract

Immersive technologies, such as augmented reality (AR) and virtual reality (VR), have gained widespread adoption, particularly in the fields of education, accessibility, and healthcare. With a rapidly increasing user base, it is expected that these technologies will have a significant impact on human-computer interaction. However, the use of Head Mount Display (HMD) devices by some individuals can lead to isolation and exclusion of non-HMD users, resulting in a separation between the real and digital worlds that can be detrimental to human-computer interaction. This has led to the emergence of a new research direction focused on cross-reality interaction, with an emphasis on the use of physical feedback devices to facilitate interaction between VR users and the natural environment. While some designers and researchers have considered the use of physical feedback to enhance the VR user experience, few have examined the potential for creating novel interactions between different end-users through these devices. The use of physical feedback to facilitate interactions between VR and non-VR users is an important, but challenging, goal. To address this issue, this research project will utilize a Research through Design (RTD) approach to create an interactive cross-reality system with physical feedback devices and asymmetric games. This research is vital for improving cross-reality interactivity for VR/AR users and non-VR users, and will help make VR technology more inclusive for a wide range of user types.

These issues have recently led to a new research direction - cross-reality interaction. Physical feedback devices are also considered an effective means of facilitating interaction between VR users and their natural environment. While many researchers and interaction designers have focused on enhancing the user experience in VR with the help of physical feedback devices, little attention has been paid to the importance of facilitating interactions between different end users by adapting physical feedback devices. Therefore, using the RTD design methodology, I will create an interactive cross-reality system with physical feedback devices. The project will explore how physical feedback and cross-reality interaction affects the asymmetric game design and how VR users interact with regular users. This research project is critical to improving cross-reality interactivity for both VR / AR users and regular users. It will enable VR technology to become more inclusive across many user types.

Table of contents

1	Introduction 1						
	1.1	Background	1				
	1.2	Research Question	3				
	1.3	Research Value	4				
	1.4	Methodology	4				
		1.4.1 Research through Design	5				
		1.4.2 Experience Prototyping	5				
		1.4.3 Participatory Design Method	5				
	1.5	Design Objective and Outcome	6				
2	Literature Review 7						
	2.1	Mixed reality	7				
	2.2	Haptic feedback	8				
	2.3	Soft Robotics	0				
	2.4	Interdependent Wearable	1				
	2.5	Cross reality user interaction	1				
3	User Research 13						
	3.1	Participatory Design	3				
		3.1.1 Participatory Design Workshop	3				
		3.1.2 Pain point	6				
	3.2	Expert Interview	7				
		3.2.1 Expert Interview with Interaction Designer	7				
		3.2.2 Expert Interview with HCI Researcher	0				
		3.2.3 Conclusion of Expert Interview	21				
	3.3	Primary Evaluate Haptic	2				
		3.3.1 Finger or Palm	2				
		3.3.2 Summary of the Design Opportunities	:4				

4	Design Process						
	4.1	Design	Phase I: One-way interaction	27			
		4.1.1	Concept Generation	27			
		4.1.2	Visual and material experimentation	29			
		4.1.3	Prototyping and testing	30			
		4.1.4	User Evaluation	32			
		4.1.5	Concept Refinement	32			
	4.2	Design	Phase II: Two-way interaction	32			
		4.2.1	System Architecture	32			
		4.2.2	Visual and material experimentation	33			
		4.2.3	Prototyping and testing	34			
		4.2.4	User Evaluation	37			
		4.2.5	Concept refinement	38			
	4.3	Design	Phase III: Interdependent wearable devices interactive feedback	41			
		4.3.1	System Architecture	41			
		4.3.2	Implementation	42			
		4.3.3	Prototyping and testing	48			
5	Conclusion and Further work 5'						
	5.1	Applic	ation Scenarios	57			
		5.1.1	Enhancing the user experience in VR and AR	57			
		5.1.2	Wide range of applications for haptic synchronisation	59			
		5.1.3	Improving user-device care interactions	61			
	5.2	Future	Work	61			
		5.2.1	More natural interaction	61			
		5.2.2	Integration of biomass and interactive devices	62			
	5.3	Result	and Discussion	62			
	5.4	Design	virtual experiences	63			
		0	1	_			

References

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Background

Immersive technology is shown significant promise in various fields and is being employed in a wide range of applications. Despite 40 years of research into Virtual Reality (VR), current VR technology still suffers from three significant drawbacks. Firstly, barriers to game migration are likely to become increasingly common. A study by researchers Professor Frank Steinicke and Professor Gerd Bruder [1] from the University of Hamburg, Germany, found that long-term use of VR devices can lead to volunteers being unable to distinguish between virtual and reality. Secondly, the immersive nature of VR can also create a sense of isolation [2]. Thirdly, while consumers increasingly use VR, simultaneous use of multiple HMDs remains rare due to cost, space required, and potential conflicts between users. There are also insufficient opportunities to increase interaction between VR users and AR users and between users in general.

As such, cross-reality interactions that include enabling non-VR users to access VR experiences are seen as promising ways to increase social interactions between VR users and bystanders (e.g. Gugenheimer et al. 2017 [3]; Lee et al. 2020 [4]). In particular, social aspects of cross-reality VR research are becoming increasingly popular [5]. There has been a proliferation of design and research on virtual reality (VR) that incorporates social interaction as a means of improving cross-reality interactions.

Designers can use these immersions to present endless virtual worlds with countless interactive objects. However, the interactive capabilities are limited because the most popular device for manipulating virtual objects is the controller that the user must carry. While controllers provide a great deal of input capability for VR, output capabilities are still limited. The haptic feedback provided by the controller does not simulate the virtual object's various texture and shape factors. Where products already exist, they are often attached to VR



Fig. 1.1 The widespread use of VR[55].

headsets or used as replacements for VR controllers. This makes them often complex and challenging to use, and the interaction with the user is not very natural. If the user does not have a VR device, they will not be able to use these devices that provide physical feedback to engage with the interaction. Therefore, researchers have conducted extensive research to explore possible approaches.



Fig. 1.2 Cross-reality interaction connects the virtual and the real[6].

Current virtual reality and the communications within it are highly focused on sight and sound, neglecting other human sensory experiences. Our eyes and ears are engaged, but an important part of us stays disconnected, our sense of touch. However, the sense of touch is paramount in making a more immersive and realistic VR experience beyond the screen.



Fig. 1.3 Cross-reality interaction connects the virtual and the real.

1.2 Research Question

Can cross-reality interactions and Haptic feedback devices enhance the user experience and promote social connect?

How to design virtual experiences to benefit our long-term health and well-being?



Fig. 1.4 Focus of the research questions

1.3 Research Value

The lessons and frameworks derived from this project through design practice offer possible ways to explore how design can help make mixed reality technologies more equitable and inclusive.

Avoiding the isolation of the virtual world from the real world. Reduce the range of social problems caused by the isolation of the real and the virtual, and promote human interaction and connection.

The deep connection of people. People of all classes and ethnicities come together across the virtual and the real to experience new technologies. Not only in terms of gaming and entertainment, but also in terms of learning and much more.

More realistic than VR controllers. Users can enjoy a more realistic and fully immersive experience by having the opportunity to feel the sense of touch at their fingertips. This will greatly improve the pleasure they get from playing in virtual environments and the sense of achievement they get from learning virtually in a virtual experience.

Mixed reality will be more inclusive. The possibility of accessing virtual world experiences for people with disabilities, the elderly, children and those who previously could not enjoy immersive experiences is opened up.

1.4 Methodology

Research through design (RTD) is a cyclical process where explores concepts iteratively to improve the user experience. A method such as Experience Prototyping will be used, where concept prototypes are produced rapidly using existing materials to simulate the experience

of using the product. In-depth user research will include questionnaires and semi-structured user interviews.

1.4.1 Research through Design

RTD [7] [8] is the primary design methodology for this design research project, focusing on design iterations. Practices, research, prototyping, testing, and iterations are all designed to implement this incremental model. This design research project will primarily use a research model of interaction design for HCI research proposed by John Zimmerman et al. [9]based on Frayling's [10] research through design.

This design process uses basic research to obtain multiple perspectives on a problem. Ideation is used to generate different possible solutions. A cyclical process of exploring concepts through iteration to improve user experience. Design iterations are considered through reflection. Using this model, interaction design researchers need to combine models and theories from behavioural scientists with technical opportunities demonstrated by engineers. Through an active process of conceptualizing, iterating, and critiquing potential solutions, design researchers continually redefine the problem and explore new solutions. The final output is a problem framework and connections, and a series of models, prototypes, products, and documentation of the design process. The path and deliverables between interaction design researchers and other HCI researchers are illustrated in Figure1.5.

1.4.2 Experience Prototyping

This approach involves the rapid production of concept prototypes using existing materials to simulate the experience of using a product. This is useful for revealing unanticipated problems or needs and for evaluating ideas. This method will be used primarily to understand the experience of different interaction design scenarios for this project. Prototypes will be designed for frequent testing and iteration [11].

1.4.3 Participatory Design Method

A design process iteratively works through possible, probable, and desirable futures [12] to arrive at an optimised vision. Participatory design will be done in the form of workshops. There will be three workshops for different groups of people: computer literate, design literate and mixed multidisciplinary. The three participatory design workshops will be used to brainstorm complete design solutions and design iterations, synthesising the views and needs of stakeholders with different knowledge backgrounds.



Fig. 1.5 John Zimmerman et al. based on Frayling's research through design.

Each workshop used a stakeholder map to identify the target users. Prototyping and iterating on the brainstormed designs using the IDEA NAPKIN prototype testing methodology.

1.5 Design Objective and Outcome

The output of this design research project is divided into two parts. The first is designing and developing a physical feedback device, including a complete design process based on user research to design the product. The second is interaction design, which will use 3D software and game engines to develop interaction opportunities for VR users, AR users, and general users. The research project will develop a complete system, including physical feedback devices. A range of models, prototypes, products, and design process documentation are also included.

Chapter 2

Literature Review

2.1 Mixed reality

Mixed Reality(MR) experience is one where the user is placed in an interactive setting that is either real with virtual asset augmentation or virtual with real-world augmentation [13]. However, the definition of MR is not very clear. MR, according to Milgram et al.'s continuum, MR is a "stronger" version of AR, MR is a combination of AR and VR (potentially bound to specific hardware or devices), and MR as a synonym for AR [14]. However, the widely used definition of MR is that it encompasses both AR and VR [15].

Virtual Reality (VR), also known as the Spiritual Realm or the Artificial Environment, is the use of computer technology to mimic the production of a closed virtual environment in which the user interacts intuitively with specific input/output devices. VR is the display of the virtual world to your eyes via a terminal device. The present standard refers to the type of virtual world in which you wear a closed device, with immersion and without barriers, similar to virtual reality in its entirety.



Fig. 2.1 The history of Virtual Reality[56].

Augmented reality (AR) has been around since the 1960s. According to R.T. Azuma, the three key characteristics of AR technology are: merging the real and the virtual, interactive

virtual content, and real-time engagement. In recent years, there has been a surge in interest in augmented reality. AR is quickly commercializing, with applications in games, mobile apps, AR for the web, industry applications, and many more areas. AR is the physicalization of the virtual.



Fig. 2.2 The history of Augmented Reality[57].

2.2 Haptic feedback

VR and AR technology is being used in a wide range of entertainment applications, games, and simulators on the market. However, most VR/AR apps lack usable user input. The sensation of touch must be replicated in order to perceive physical interaction with the virtual environment, which is a critical component of establishing total immersion. Implementing an accurate touch simulation is a difficult undertaking since it requires describing object properties like form, hardness, weight, texture, and temperature.

Many previous studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of VR-related haptic feedback in enhancing the user experience. AmBioTherm [16] is a wearable headset accessory that provides thermal and wind stimulation. EmoJacket [17] provides thermal feedback at the wrist and neck and vibrotactile feedback at the chest. Nimesha Ranasinghe [18] et al. added odor feedback to wind and temperature feedback and further validated the impact of these feedback factors on user experience by recording physiological signals. However they are often attached to VR headset devices or used as a replacement for VR controllers. This makes them often complex and difficult to use, and less natural to interact with users. For example, AmBioTherm (Figure 3-b). And Lopes et al.[19]: EMS and solenoid condition (Figure 4); Kovacs et al.[20]: catching condition; Steed et al.[21]: free condition. If users do not have VR devices, they will not be able to participate in the interaction using these devices that provide physical feedback.



Fig. 2.3 Previous related studies.(a) [22] (b) [16] (c) [23](d) [24]



Fig. 2.4 Impacto: Simulating physical impact by combining tactile stimulation with electrical muscle stimulation[19].



Fig. 2.5 PoCoPo: Handheld Pin-based Shape Display for Haptic Rendering in Virtual Reality Shigeo Yoshida; Yuqian Sun; Hideaki Kuzuoka [25]

Immersive user engagement is critical in AR and VR. Many AR/VR technologies rely on controllers to facilitate user engagement with digital material. However, controllers are not only difficult to transport, but they may also disturb immersion, making interactions feel less natural and fluid.

2.3 Soft Robotics



Fig. 2.6 Soft robotics application[26].

Pneumatically actuated soft materials have garnered significant attention in the fields of human-computer interaction (HCI) and robotics due to their unique capability for deformation, movement, and flexibility. This enables them to exhibit a wide range of shape-changing capabilities and functions. One major advantage of using materials with pliability similar to that of soft biological materials is the potential for reducing injuries caused by robotic systems (as demonstrated by rigid robots with pliable joints [27]), increasing their potential for interaction with humans.

One challenge in the design of soft robots is the control of their extension and deformation, which determines their movement. Unlike rigid robots that move in a fixed manner based on joints, the materials in soft robots have the potential to move and expand in a virtually limitless range of ways.

Currently, the most common methods for constructing soft robots include the use of TPU airbags and silicone airbags. The former often employs thermo-compression moulding and infrared sewing techniques to create airtight airbags, while the latter utilizes 3D printing and CNC moulding to create moulds that are then used to create silicone airbags. Both methods utilize changes in air pressure, controlled by an air pump, to regulate the deformation

and movement of the robot. The primary difference between these two approaches is that TPU soft robots are typically created with multiple air chambers that are controlled through thermoforming or infrared sewing technology, while soft silicone robots are designed with air-tight chambers when the mould is created and are moulded in a single piece using silicone.

2.4 Interdependent Wearable

Most current wearable devices are designed to ignore social interaction. They are still designed to focus on self-improvement, such as personal exercise data tracking and management, healthcare support to help diagnose, monitor or provide treatment recommendations, or on connected communication. Neither of them focuses on support for social interactions between people.

However, social interaction and interdependent wearable devices have recently received increasing attention from HCI researchers and designers, who have recently proposed to the academic community to guide future technological developments by focusing on the human-to-human experience space and deploying computing to enhance social interaction.[28].

The integration of interdependence between users in interaction design may facilitate pro-social behaviour, such as cooperation, coordination, and mutual concern [29?]. This aligns with the argument made by interaction designers that these qualities can be effectively encoded into the design context to establish the necessity of interaction with technology.

2.5 Cross reality user interaction

Computing has progressed beyond the desktop computer since then. Pervasive computing differs from traditional computing in that it requires perceptual information about the environment. The pervasive computing framework strives to immerse the user in a ubiquitous computer realm.

Human-computer interaction, the most recent study in ubiquitous computing, is indisputably ubiquitous computing (Ubicomp). This phrase, along with ambient intelligence and pervasive computing, is frequently used interchangeably to allude to the ultimate approach to human-computer interaction [30].

Current VR systems prioritize immersion and enjoyment for individuals wearing HMDs (HMD users), excluding all onlookers (non-HMD users) from experience. Share VR [3] is a proof-of-concept prototype that visualizes the virtual world for non-HMD users via floor projection and mobile displays paired with positional tracking, allowing them to interact with HMD users and become a part of the VR experience. They conducted user research (n = 16)

comparing ShareVR to the baseline condition and discovered that utilizing ShareVR boosted presence and social engagement.



Fig. 2.7 ShareVR, Experiences for Virtual Reality between HMD and Non-HMD Users[3].

In addition to display-supported sharing of virtual content, the researchers also believe that the sharing of sensory information beyond the visual is important for deeper connections. This can help people move from a deep connection to technology to a deep connection with emotions. These efforts are all aimed at addressing isolation and facilitating social interaction. Tactile sharing (also known as tactile interaction) is the process of using technology to transfer tactile information from one person to another. This technology can be implemented in a variety of ways, including haptic input devices and haptic output devices.

Haptic sharing technology can facilitate social interaction because it allows people to feel each other's tactile information, thus enhancing human interaction. For example, when two people use haptic sharing technology to interact across realities, i.e. the audience can also feel the haptic sensations of the VR user. In this way, people can create richer and more interesting interactions and more intimate connections with each other.

Chapter 3

User Research

3.1 Participatory Design

3.1.1 Participatory Design Workshop

Participatory design strategically engages stakeholders by involving key stakeholders, mapping roles and relationships in a 'people-centred system' view, making assumptions transparent and revealing motivations and concerns.

Two participatory design workshops were organised, the first with participants from computer and engineering backgrounds, and the second with participants from design backgrounds.

At the beginning of the workshop, I gave a brief introduction to the background of the whole project and the purpose and significance of the research. Some knowledge and research related to immersive technology, haptic devices and wearable devices were also introduced. We then had a brainstorming session to first identify the stakeholders related to the research questions of the project. We used a stakeholder map to classify the target audience: Target Audience, Direct Stakeholder, Indirect Stakeholder and the classification of users is shown in Figure 3.2.

Participants from design backgrounds (N=8) were very diffuse and active in brainstorming solutions for this project. The ideas they mentioned more often were limb sensing and haptic synchronisation (N=4). They designed virtual experiences for multiple users, using projector devices or large screen displays, creating opportunities for multiple users to interact with the experience in the same scene. As shown in Figure 3.3.

Participants from computer and engineering backgrounds assessed the feasibility of implementing ideas from a more technical point of view. In addition to projectors and screen displays, they introduced interactive and dome-like immersive displays for visual tracking

and positioning. They designed multi-user types of virtual experiences and also mentioned multi-device types of communication and shared experiences.



Fig. 3.1 Workshop Sciences.



Fig. 3.2 Stakeholder map and Innovation Opportunities map.



Fig. 3.4 Three main kind persona.

In this study, we conducted user profiling for three different types of user personas. A persona is a fictional representation of a real user, based on actual data, and serves as a model for designing interactions with a specific target user in mind. In short, personas allow us to focus on the motivations and behaviours of our target users during the brainstorming process, rather than personal preferences.

Additionally, in order to better understand our users, we also employed empathy mapping during the workshop to establish empathy for our end users. Empathy mapping helps us to consider the thoughts and feelings of others. It can assist us in shifting our focus from behaviour to the emotions and experiences of our users.



Fig. 3.5 Emapthy map for persona.

During a comprehensive post-workshop with our stakeholders, we added a turning point to this technology by focusing on personas. We adapted a method from Nikki Knox's user research, simplifying it into three main components: thinking, feeling, and doing, and we focused on the pain points and challenges currently identified in our study.

3.1.2 Pain point

Current virtual reality and the communications within it are highly focused on sight and sound, neglecting other human sensory experiences. Our eyes and ears are engaged, but an important part of us stays disconnected, our sense of touch.

Game Migration Disorder The barriers to game migration may become increasingly common. A study by researchers Prof. Frank Steinicke and Prof. Gerd Bruder [1] at the University of Hamburg in Germany found that prolonged use of VR devices can cause volunteers to be unable to distinguish between virtual and reality.

Addiction and Isolation Immersive technologies such as augmented reality (AR) and virtual reality (VR) are already widely used. However, these technologies pose the problem of isolation of Head Mount Display users (HMD users) and exclusion of bystanders (non-HMD users). The separation between the real and digital worlds has become an issue, especially in human-computer interaction. It is crucial to stay connected and interact with natural environments and objects.

Lack of Interaction Even though consumers have increased access to VR, using multiple Head Mount Display (HMDs) simultaneously is still rare due to cost and the possibility of conflict between users [2].

In summary, through a series of workshop, I have identified the following design opportunities.

- 1. People incorporate tactile evidence when touching.
- 2. People usually use their hands to feel the sense of touch.

- 3. Older people, who cannot afford the price of immersive devices, want to experience this new technology.
- 4. Users want to be able to interact with different types of users when experiencing an immersive environment.
- 5. Haptic, wearable, and projection devices may be one effective way to create this interaction.
- 6. Immersive technology experiences need to be designed to be inclusive, affordable and easy to use out of the lab.

3.2 Expert Interview

To gain a deeper understanding of the needs and opportunities for supporting haptic wearables, we first engaged in discussions with five researchers from the fields of Human-Computer Interaction and Interaction Design, Innovation Design. The target group for the user interviews came from two professional fields, computing and design. They all have extensive experience in human-computer interaction, virtual reality, tangible interaction and haptic feedback. Not only are there specialist researchers, but also experienced interaction designers.

3.2.1 Expert Interview with Interaction Designer

To delve further into wearable haptic devices, I conducted an interview with experts who are veterans in the field and have a wealth of experience.

E1, who is an associate professor of design at a university. She has been involved in research in this field since 2015. Her research has been vocal around inclusive design and she then met some of the companies working on this technology, from sensors to wearables. She combined her experience with that of this company. The project they worked on together received European funding. She is also exploring the intersection of wearables and immersive technologies, although these are still very experimental. Although we still don't have a commercial product, these haptic and immersive technologies are now being experimented with in different areas," she says. Even in the healthcare sector, which I think is one of the most important sectors. There are apps and wearables designed for training. Like the personnel there. Immersive technology that trains doctors or immersive technology that even helps patients, especially children, rather than entertaining."

When asked: "Currently most haptic devices are used in laboratory environments, what solutions do you think we can take to promote the popularity of haptic devices? Popularity of haptic devices?"

She said." So there are two aspects. One aspect is based on the development of technology, when technology will be more flexible and miniaturised. Integrated, no cleaning problems. It will be easier to make them commercially available to writers. They are using labs as there are still. The complexity of you know like that."

She highlights the potential of immersive technology for the care of older people. " I think immersive technology will be very important for older people in China. Yes, you know. There are countries with an elderly population. It's important, not like in Italy, so how can we help older people? By this tactile right to enjoy their lives or support their daily needs, sometimes with even weaker senses. So it's an interesting regional survey. So I mean, I don't know what you really want to do now because you have to know what, but I think there are things that you would really enjoy if you worked with older people? You have people you can talk to and the most important thing in design is to work with the users involved, the users develop your project so you can talk to specific categories. What are the other difficulties with enhancing cocaine? Sometimes, by talking to people you know, what you really need, it can be an opportunity for designers to, you know so what? What can I do? I want to design something for my grandfather because? Some reason oh yeah, so. Well, why not something very interesting and very useful like in the UK. There isn't even an association in Asia. Older people were design for older people. No, so the most important thing is to talk to the people who need it. Because we can guess, but when you don't talk to the person. You never know."

When asked, "How do users expect to react to multi-person control of wearable haptic devices? And will this enhance the social experience?" "It depends on the specific use case. For example, people with disabilities who can't control anything, they may need a person interacting with the wearable to activate the wearable or controlled available in some way. Or as far as safety is concerned, there will be a third person to take control." However, she also highlighted issues regarding safety and ethics. "Terms and rules need to be made clear. I think it's very important to specify those rules."

E2, He is an expert in socially innovative design and forward-looking speculative design. He works as an associate professor in a university's design programme. With nine years of experience in the field, he focuses on improving communities and society through design.

When asked: "What are the main limitations currently preventing the widespread adoption of immersive technologies?" he said: "First of all, it's the equipment. I think the equipment is still bulky and expensive, it requires cables, the head-mounted displays are heavy to wear and still very uncomfortable and not easy to wear."

When asked, "What do you think is the reason for the immersive technology that some people believe reduces human interaction?" He stated, "I firmly believe that I was anchored to a large extent in the 20th century and I think the way we use technology, especially you know virtual technology or technology that enables you to enter these spaces. In the end, it created a separation between the people we know and the people we know, especially with very young generations born on the internet and mobile phones. For these people, they spend more time in virtual environments or using computers or their reality. The tangible reality of everyday life is. They spend less time in fasting, creating for them the main reality. For me it is virtual. This is going to be very problematic in the future. That is my belief. I think we are creating and you are. If we are. We can say that sometimes humans are a new form of humanity that is developing very fast and we don't know yet how it will turn out, and yes, I have discovered a very scary phenomenon. To be honest."

He stresses:"For me, I think we have to find a balance between the tangible reality The everyday reality of tangible objects and the interactions between people."

He expressed concern about virtual technology that transcends reality. He believes that going beyond the real to the virtual can be addictive for many people. "In general, I think the isolation that is ultimately created is a form of addiction because you know you have your own space in the virtual world. You can know everything you need to know and then your stimulation is always switched on? Yes, your stimulus, and then you can't find the explicit metaphor in the real world because the real goal is: generally speaking, these things, yes, are much more difficult. You have to work. You have to work. You have to deal with things in those environments, and usually that's the environment that companies provide. You control, yes, so what happens is almost always positive or good and you know the feeling will make you feel better because that's how they sell this, obviously, you don't want to have anything to do with the world because the world is difficult and unexpected."

When asked, "What impact do you think variable devices have on the immersive experience or haptic devices on the immersive experience? Are they important?"

He stressed that we need to cater for more people and make the new technology more inclusive: "Well, right now we're talking about how many people will wear them. Those are, yeah, at the moment. You know, or the fact that technology doesn't always depend on whether you can afford it or not. Yeah, yeah, so when we talk about topics like that. We have to take into account that you know poor people can't access these technologies because there's going to be a special, yeah, so people will have an impact. The elite are the ones who can afford this new technology. Yes, that's the point I found, so the impact could be huge, but before this technology, it would be on very few people. We can be so cheap and so affordable that anyone can have it. So it's just for comparison it's like a personal computer, yeah, yeah.

The first time I bought a computer was 20 years ago. It was super expensive. Not everybody had, yeah, spent so much money on it. Now, in most you know developed countries, almost anyone can use a computer for very little money, so it's exactly the same thing. The impact will depend on how cheap it is. These technologies become all about the cost base, all about the money."

E3, She is an assistant professor of design at a university and has more than ten years of experience in the field of design communication, mostly from corporate and practical work. She also works with people in artificial intelligence and information systems, and her main research interests are in exploring ways to enhance communication with user objects.

When asked: "What kind of design do you think will allow more people to be included in this immersive and interactive experience?"

3.2.2 Expert Interview with HCI Researcher

E4, He is a senior researcher in the field of human-computer interaction and an assistant professor of computer science at a university. His main research interest is in organisational work and then using computer systems to support organisational work, in other words called CSCW. He has 10 years of experience in this field. When asked: "What do you think are the main limitations that are currently preventing the widespread application of this immersive technology?" He believes that the main limitations are: 1. The device is bulky and uncomfortable to wear. 2. vertigo, although some technologies are exploring ways to mitigate motion sickness, it is still a very impressive user experience. 3. The application scenario is too narrow. Immersive technology is not being used on a large scale.

E5, She is a senior researcher in the field of human-computer interaction and works as an associate professor in the computer science department of a university. She has 14 years of experience in the field of human-computer interaction. Her research interests are mainly designing imagery and natural interaction techniques to help users explore complex scientific data.

I think in an immersive environment, the first thing is that the person and the data are in the same space, and the other thing is that you are in the same space with other people who are collaborating with you. Then when you're all exploring the data in the same space, there's a need to exchange information or discuss insights. So this is a very good space, a virtual space or a space to enhance some information. Then everyone can discover some issues together."

3.2.3 Conclusion of Expert Interview

Particularly in the context of immersive technologies such as virtual reality (VR) and augmented reality (AR). The use of haptic technology can enhance the user experience in games and could be easily spread to individuals with disabilities. However, there may be resistance to accepting the need for this kind of support, and it may take time for different stakeholders to become involved. Wearable devices in healthcare, such as training and support for doctors, may also be important areas to consider. In countries with large elderly populations, haptic technology could be used to help elderly individuals enjoy their lives and meet their daily needs, as their senses may be weaker. It is important to work with users in the design process and to consider the specific needs and challenges of different groups. There may be difficulties in implementing haptic technology, such as the cost and technical challenges, as well as cultural and psychological barriers. It is also important to consider the ethical implications of using haptic technology and to ensure that it is used in a way that is respectful and sensitive to the needs of all users.

The variable and haptic devices can have a significant impact on the immersive experience, but their effectiveness depends on how widely they are available and how affordable they are. They argue that if these technologies are only accessible to a select group of people, the impact will be limited, but if they are made more affordable and accessible to everyone, the impact could be huge. The speaker uses the example of personal computers, which were once expensive and only accessible to a small group of people, but are now widely available and affordable for most people in developed countries. The speaker believes that the cost of these technologies will ultimately determine their impact.

In summary, through a series of Expert Interview, I have identified the following design opportunities.

- 1. Current haptic interfaces are usually complex, large and heavy in overall weight, which affects the user experience.
- Current haptic feedback devices usually require a wired connection to a computer for serial communication to control how the haptic feedback works, which greatly limits movement when using VR.
- 3. Current haptic feedback devices are limited in form and not flexible enough to enhance the user experience.

3.3 Primary Evaluate Haptic

3.3.1 Finger or Palm

Previous work on haptic feedback has been less in-depth in the study of very precise sensory areas. This is particularly true for the hand, a region that is closely associated with human tactile sensation. Humans rely on their dexterous hands to explore new things and to feel the touch of materials, but what has not been explored in depth is which area of the finger or palm is more sensitive to haptic sensations. This question is crucial to the haptic experience associated with immersive technologies and has profound implications for the haptic experience in human reality.

I conducted a user experiment to investigate the effect of different feedback locations on the hand on the user's haptic experience, both in terms of haptic perception and preference of haptic experience location.



Fig. 3.6 Iteration of the design of the control system. Added air outlet for odour feedback.

Participants

We recruited participants (n=10) to participate in this experiment, where the order of different voltages and feedback positions was randomised. The mean age of the participants was 22.5, with six males and four females.

Procedure

The study was conducted in a comfortable laboratory environment. Participants wore the soft robot in each of the six positions on the hand as shown in Figure 3.7.



Fig. 3.7 Prototype test.

Experienced haptic feedback at different feedback locations. Participants answered two questions about the haptic experience after each experience: "Do you think the touch feels strong?" "Do you like this experience of haptic feedback in this position?" . From a minimum score of 1 to a maximum score of 7, each participant was rated 12 times.

Result

The haptic perception scores of participants were collected and the experimental results were analyzed. The feedback position has a significant impact on the user's touch and comfort. Among all six positions, positions 1, 2, 3 and 4 have higher scores. Position 4, palm area, obtained the highest Likert score.



Fig. 3.8 Result of Likrt score in different position.

User interviews

After the experiment, we conducted user interviews with the participants and when asked: "Do you think the haptic feedback is more pronounced in the fingers or in the palm of the hand?" the majority of participants said that the tactile feedback was more pronounced in the fingers. I also asked an open-ended interview question, "Please talk about your experience of experiencing haptic feedback in your hands?" They indicate that: "It has been noted that, although the tactile changes are quite subtle, they can be easily perceived in the palm of the hand."

3.3.2 Summary of the Design Opportunities

In summary, through a series of user studies, I have identified the following design opportunities.

1. Current haptic interfaces are usually complex, large and heavy in overall weight, which affects the user experience.

- 2. Current haptic feedback devices usually require a wired connection to a computer for serial communication to control how the haptic feedback works, which greatly limits movement when using VR.
- 3. Current haptic feedback devices are limited in form and not flexible enough to enhance the user experience.
- 4. Current haptic feedback devices rarely create interactions between different users.

Chapter 4

Design Process

4.1 Design Phase I: One-way interaction

4.1.1 Concept Generation

In the past, haptic devices often required large control systems and complex communication mechanisms, and they were confined to laboratory environments. Most existing tools use rigid components (e.g. accelerometers or strain sensors) or external tracking systems (e.g. cameras and markers) to detect deformation. These rigid materials undermine the benefits of soft touch, and external sensors require complex setups and pose other problems, such as masking or fixation. Their mechanical construction makes them difficult to use as lightweight, portable wearable devices in a wider range of environments. Users need a portable, ergonomic and soft haptic wearable device.

The advancement of soft robotics is also facilitating soft wearable devices that provide haptic feedback to the user. They can react quickly to apply forces on the skin while maintaining safety and flexibility [31]. Compared to traditional rigid materials, soft materials have unique deformation, movement and flexibility capabilities that give shape changing physical objects a wealth of expression and functionality.

An early design concept is shown in Figure 4.2. The control system is worn on the arm. The tactile part is made of soft materials and connected to the fingers and palms.



Fig. 4.1 Inspiration Board[32]



Fig. 4.2 Concept Sketch.



Fig. 4.3 Concept Sketch.

4.1.2 Visual and material experimentation

I tested different soft materials, exploring their textures, softness, toughness and structure in the inflated state. Food-grade silicone is superior to several other materials in terms of toughness, softness, weight and tactility across the board. This is why food-grade silicone was chosen to create the wearable device. A mould to make a soft robot was rapidly constructed using 3d printing technology and a series of prototypes of different shapes and sizes were made for testing.



Fig. 4.4 The silicone airbag making process: (a): 3D print the mould (b): introduce the silicone into the mould (c): remove the silicone (d-e): make the front and back silicone (f): combine the silicone and put in the hose



Fig. 4.5 Testing the toughness.



Fig. 4.6 Testing the toughness.

4.1.3 Prototyping and testing

Based on the initial ideas, I designed the basic functional architecture. Figure 4.7 shows the main parts used.



Fig. 4.7 Main parts: (a): Pump (b): Adapters (c): Switch (d): Solenoid valves (e): TIP120 Triode (f): Arduino Naono (g): Step-down voltage regulator modules (h): Battery



Fig. 4.8 Functional prototypes.



Fig. 4.9 Testing of cardboard models.

4.1.4 User Evaluation

User testing was carried out on the initial prototype of the design. In particular, user interviews conducted after our internal tests found that most users mentioned the material and size of the control system. They said: The control system is heavy and complex, which detracts from the experience during use. They said: "I can obviously feel the control system on my arm, it's heavy." The material is too hard. The contrast with the soft robot in hand is too strong. Used close to the skin, the user would prefer the material to be soft.

4.1.5 Concept Refinement

These interactions occur in both directions between the physical and virtual worlds. Some participants desire the ability to not only feel the haptic effects of a virtual environment, but also to change the virtual environment through haptic feedback. They believe that two-way interaction would enhance their experience.

The interaction between the virtual and the real requires occurrence in both directions: from the physical world to the virtual world and vice versa. A more immersive interaction requires consideration of two aspects: (a) haptic wearable devices as triggers for AR/VR content, and (b) AR/VR content as triggers for wearable haptic devices.

Tactile wearables need to be wireless.

Participants in the user test reported how they felt about the experience of the prototype. One participant said, "I think the wireless wearable is better because the cables are getting in the way of an enjoyable virtual experience." They mentioned most often that the cable limited their range of motion and affected their experience.

4.2 Design Phase II: Two-way interaction

4.2.1 System Architecture

A new microcontroller (Nodemcu V3.0 ESP8266) was chosen for the first version of the system architecture in order to get rid of wiring and to allow fast and stable communication between wearable haptic devices and immersive technology. It communicates via 2.4G wifi and is small, low power and stable. To further enrich the experience, more electronic valves have also been added to provide pneumatic control.
4.2.2 Visual and material experimentation



Fig. 4.10 Testing of silicone materials.

The design of the control system section was iterated, especially the materials section. By testing prototypes for 3D printing using different materials, a very soft (30 degrees of softness) soft rubber was chosen for 3D printing and moulding. For the structural part, a lattice structure was designed based on the user's need to "want the skin to breathe", which reduces weight while increasing airflow. We compared the skin's reaction to the different materials after a period of contact (1H) with the skin surface and found that the lattice structure and the soft rubber printed material worked best.

4.2.3 Prototyping and testing



Fig. 4.11 Prototype test.



Fig. 4.12 Prototype test.



Fig. 4.13 Prototype test.



Fig. 4.14 Prototype test.



Fig. 4.15 Main parts: (a): Pump (b): Adapters (c): Switch (d): Solenoid valves (e): TIP120 Triode (f): NodeMCU V3.0 (g): Step-down voltage regulator modules (h): Charge protection module and Battery (i): Battery



Fig. 4.16 Prototype test.



Fig. 4.17 (a): Soft body attached to the fingertips. (b): Deformable soft body attached to the back of the hand. (c): Soft body attached to the palm of the hand. (d): Control system. (e-f): Mould for the production of a soft robot.



Fig. 4.18 User test.

4.2.4 User Evaluation

A beta user test was carried out and user interviews were conducted after the test was completed. This was done to support the iteration of this design project.

User Test Interview: Interview Question:

- 1. What changes would you make to the device ?
- 2. How has wearing the devices affected your experience ?
- 3. What do you like about this device ?
- 4. What do you dislike most about using this device ?

Participants reported that the soft robot gave a relatively good haptic experience. In particular, his haptic feedback was prompt and rapid, and changes were evident. In terms of areas for improvement, they would like the soft finger robot to be able to provide haptic feedback on multiple fingers simultaneously or non-simultaneously. In addition some users said they would like this haptic wearable to be more personalised. "I wish I had a little different colour for this soft robot, I like that one." They felt that the same soft robot worn on their hands made them feel ordinary." I need something personalised, and I would prefer it to be colour."

4.2.5 Concept refinement

Many in the HCI community have been exploring ways to create alternative, more caring relationships and attitudes in the hope that by changing such relationships, users can connect their devices more responsibly and thus extend the lifetime of their devices [33] [34]. Many researchers have advocated the introduction of interdependent wearables to improve the user-device relationship, arguing for a different relationship between the user and the device. [35] [36].



Fig. 4.19 Design concept development of system part.



Fig. 4.20 Breathable mesh design for the strap of a wearable device.



Fig. 4.21 Breathable holes have been designed for the part of the wearable that is close to the skin, making it more skin-friendly and sweat-proof. A lattice structure is used for the parts that have a large contact area. Ventilating and skin-friendly, it also serves to support the weight of the wearable device, reducing the pressure of its weight on the skin.



Fig. 4.22 Additive manufacturing of watch straps using soft materials.



Fig. 4.23 Prototype by additive manufacturing.

4.3 Design Phase III: Interdependent wearable devices interactive feedback

Currently, most commercial wearable designs still focus on personal data tracking and management for self-improvement, healthcare support in helping to diagnose, monitor or provide treatment recommendations, or on network communication, neglecting support for interaction between people.

Previous expert interviews and user research have also validated this need. As mentioned by the [37] [38] the isolation brought about by immersive technology requires new interaction techniques and experience design to improve it. Therefore, the design of the haptic wearable soft robot was further iterated, building on its two-way interaction with immersive technology and introducing a new design concept: interdependent wearability.

4.3.1 System Architecture

In order to create opportunities for interaction between wearable haptic devices, the ESP32 microcontroller was added to the previous version of the system architecture and a peer-to-peer network communication was constructed using the ESP-NOW communication protocol.

To further reduce the size of the system, the ESP32 microcontroller is used, using the ESP32 main controller chip, but in a relatively smaller size. The communication part of the system is then divided into two parts: interaction with immersive technology and interaction between haptic devices.



Fig. 4.24 (a): Pump (b): Adapters (c): Switch (d): Solenoid valves (e): TIP120 Triode (f): ESP32 (g): Step-down voltage regulator modules (h): 3.7V Battery (i): Battery



Fig. 4.25 Uninflated state





Fig. 4.27 Soft robot in different states of inflation.

4.3.2 Implementation

In this section, the implementation of hardware and software of Haptic Soft Robotics is described, including 1) conductive soft silicone material, 2) ESP-NOW communication, WIFI communication and actuator unit, 3) pneumatic control circuit, and 4) implementation of feedback control and mutual communication of soft robots.

Mechanism

Bi-directional data transfer between the ESP32 microcontroller and the game engine via WIFI transmission signals. The pins of the ESP32 microcontroller are set to output or read the state of the input to control the pneumatics, which in turn controls the soft robot's movement and provides haptic feedback via the soft robot's air chamber.

Bi-directional communication between the soft robot and the immersive technology: The user wears a head-mounted display while wearing a soft robot. When a command is given in the virtual environment of the head-mounted display, the microprocessor in the control system worn on the user's wrist receives the command via the WIFI network. The microprocessor control pin outputs a high level, which is set to a connected state via the TIP120, thus controlling the pneumatic system consisting of a micro air pump and electric valve. The electric valve gate is energised and deflated; the electric valve gate is de-energised and inflated. The pneumatic system delivers gas through a hose to the soft robot's air chamber to control the soft robot's ability to provide tactile feedback to the user.

Intercommunication between soft robots: The new conductive soft silicone material can measure changes in contact between human fingertips. The basic sensing mechanism is similar to a capacitive sensor; the change in capacitance can be detected via the touch pins of the ESP32 development board. Point-to-point data communication is carried out through the ESP-NOW networking. When the ESP32 microcontroller at the transmitting end detects a change in capacitance, it transmits a value to the ESP32 microcontroller at the receiving end. The receiving end judges whether to trigger the pin command based on the received value, thus controlling the movement of the soft robot through the operation of the pneumatic system.

Electro-soft silicone material

In the field of human-computer interaction, a number of methods have been explored for the fabrication of new soft, conductive materials. One is the use of screen printing [39] [40] or inkjet printing [41] techniques that allow conductive traces and circuits to be printed directly with conductive inks on stretchable or non-stretchable substrates. Building on this valuable background, experiments were carried out on silicone, taking into account the need for wearable devices to be safe, low-cost and easy to manufacture. The experiments revealed that the addition of highly conductive activated carbon to silica gel could transform the silica gel material from an insulating material into a soft, conductive new material, and their conductive properties were evaluated. In this project, soft conductive materials were used as the basis for soft wearable haptic devices.



Fig. 4.28 (a): From left to right, carbon nanotube dispersant, highly active carbon nanotube, highly active carbon nanotube and silica mixture. (b): On the left, a highly reactive carbon nanotube and silica gel blend; on the right, a highly reactive carbon nanotube and silica gel blend with the addition of carbon nanotube dispersant. (c): Softness test without the carbon nanotube dispersant. (d): Softness test with the carbon nanotube dispersant.



Fig. 4.29 Testing the electrical conductivity of silica materials incorporating highly reactive carbon nanotube.



Fig. 4.30 Material Testing.



Fig. 4.31 Structure of soft robotics.

Here, the manufacturing process of conductive soft silicone material is described. It is shown in the Figure 4.31. The conductive soft silicone follows three steps. 1) making a soft silicone base layer, 2) building a conductive material filler layer, and 3) installing conductive wires.

In order to make a conductive soft silicone material, we follow the basic procedure presented above. We first prepare the experimental equipment and gauges, proportion the AB silicone material in a container in a one-to-one ratio and mix it thoroughly. The mixture was then poured into the pre-prepared 3D printed finished mould and waited for the silicone to solidify. The solidified silicone is removed and a tool is used to create a groove for the conductive material.

The next step is to make the silicone conductive. Firstly, the AB silicone material is mixed evenly in a container in a one-to-one ratio. The conductive mix is then obtained by adding dispersion aid (composition PVP) to the highly reactive carbon nanotubes and then adding the conductive mix to the silica gel mix and stirring well until the solution is viscous.

Once the conductive mix has been prepared, the solution is poured into the previously made conductive material filler layer and left to set completely.

The next step is to attach the electrodes to the conductive material, using conductive wire, copper wire etc. to connect the soft conductive silicone material to the pins of the microcontroller.



Fig. 4.32 Soft rubber additive manufacturing for soft robot construction moulds.

The moulds used to make the different parts of the soft robot were designed as shown in Figure 4.32, using additive manufacturing techniques to create the moulds.



Fig. 4.33 Soft rubber additive manufacturing for soft robot construction moulds.



Fig. 4.34 Soft rubber additive manufacturing for soft robot construction moulds.

4.3.3 Prototyping and testing

A further iteration of the product's appearance, based on previous user research. User testing has seen users mention more often the impact of the weight and appearance of the control system on the overall experience. The iteration of the design solution was focused on being smaller, lighter and more comfortable to wear.



Fig. 4.35 Design Concept.



Fig. 4.36 Design prototypes for control systems.



Fig. 4.37 Exploded views and renderings.





Fig. 4.38 SOFT-MR.



Fig. 4.39 SOFT-MR.



Fig. 4.40 SOFT-MR.





Fig. 4.41 SOFT-MR.



Fig. 4.42 SOFT-MR Toolkit.

Researchers, students, artists, designers, and manufacturers have demonstrated a growing interest in soft robotics in recent years. However, many practitioners in this field are faced with the challenge of building their own drive systems from scratch, which requires a significant amount of time and effort. Instead of focusing on developing innovative software actuators, applications, or user experiences, they often spend a considerable amount of time on the development of pneumatics, electronics, and software. So a complete toolkit has been developed based on design practices, including moulds for making soft robots and circuit boards for the main controls, to help interested parties quickly develop more interesting haptic experiences.



Fig. 4.43 SOFT-MR.



Fig. 4.44 SOFT-MR.

Chapter 5

Conclusion and Further work

5.1 Application Scenarios

5.1.1 Enhancing the user experience in VR and AR

SOFT-MR can change the shape and size of the soft robot in the finger area by changing the time of inflation. In addition, the speed of change of size and shape can also simulate different types of tactile sensations very well.

Haptic devices enhance the user's virtual experience because they help the user to better perceive the virtual world. The human ability to perceive virtual reality environments relies primarily on sight and hearing, but with haptic devices, users can also perceive haptic stimuli in virtual reality environments. This helps users to become more immersed in virtual reality and enhances the user experience.

In addition, haptic devices can also help users to better control the virtual reality environment, allowing them to interact more naturally with virtual reality. This also helps to enhance the user's virtual experience.



Fig. 5.1 User test.

Learning Skill In VR

SOFT-MR provides an immersive experience for the user, especially when learning skills that require practical work. For example, in the design of the bamboo bending scenario, SOFT-MR works well with virtual reality and augmented reality to simulate the real tactile sensation and synchronise the haptic experience. Students are able to experience what it is like to make something rather than just watch it, and haptic synchronisation is more effective and better for their skill acquisition.

As shown in Figure 5.2, a scenario of learning how to bend bamboo in an immersive environment using a haptic wearable is demonstrated.



Fig. 5.2 Education in design practice in virtual reality.



Fig. 5.3 Users using haptic wearables can experience immersive environments together with different types of users through collaboration and interaction [42].

5.1.2 Wide range of applications for haptic synchronisation

The enormous potential of haptic synchronisation has already received attention. Whether it is the [43] developed by Riecke et al. for remote mobile robots in space, or the robotic

surgery [44] discussed by Wagner et al. in which haptic feedback reduces errors by a factor of three. Or the use of kinesthetic feedback for rehabilitation by Metzger et al. [45]

It is important to note that learning dexterous hand skills is crucial for many aspects of our daily lives, such as using highly dexterous interfaces (e.g., keyboards, touch screens) and playing musical instruments. These skills are also necessary for assisting others in movements, such as hand rehabilitation [46] and performing surgeries [47]. In order to effectively perform these tasks, precise and stable control over finger gestures, forces, speeds, and timing is required. As a result, research in interactive systems has focused on developing devices that support skill transfer. These devices include head-mounted displays (HMDs) [48] and projection mapping systems [49] that allow users to share visual perspectives. While these devices can be useful for skill transfer, they do not always provide all of the necessary information for learning complex movements. To address this issue, researchers have introduced wearable devices that provide haptic feedback to users in order to establish haptic synchrony.



Fig. 5.4 Training in surgery in a virtual environment.

5.1.3 Improving user-device care interactions

An interdependent wearable device is one in which there is an interdependent relationship between two or more devices that allows them to work together. Such devices often have network connectivity and are able to exchange data and communicate with other devices.

These devices facilitate social interaction because they can provide users with additional communication channels and tools. For example, with wearable devices, users can communicate with others at any time and from any place. In addition, such devices can offer many interesting interactive features, such as games and apps, that can engage users and facilitate social interactions.

Human-computer interaction (HCI) researchers have been exploring ways to cultivate a sense of care and responsibility among users for their devices to address the growing problem of electronic waste globally. One approach has been to focus on how to foster a sense of care and attachment between users and their devices. Researchers have also explored the care and maintenance of device materials through repair, maintenance, and creative reuse, as well as how to design interactive devices to facilitate caring interactions and encourage users to view their devices as something worth caring for. These design efforts often involve virtual care in the form of interactions that allow users to respond to the quality of life of digital entities. Overall, these efforts are important in helping to prevent devices from becoming outdated and discarded, and improving the relationship between the user and the device is important.

5.2 Future Work

5.2.1 More natural interaction

In recent years, EHD (Electro hydro dynamics) pumps have been gaining interest in the interactive sector. EHD pumps are proposed as a drive source for soft actuators [50] [51] because of their simplicity, compactness and light weight. Lighter weight, smaller and thinner haptic wearable devices are expected to further enhance the user experience.

Virtual Reality (VR) enables users to experience environments outside their physical surroundings. The advent of portable VR hardware (e.g. Oculus Quest 2, VIVE Focus 3) has further enabled users to experience virtual reality anywhere, anytime. However, while current VR systems present immersive visual and audio experiences, they largely ignore events in the user's physical environment. In contrast, users experiencing VR are constantly receiving two streams of sensory information, one from the VR and the other from the physical environment. [52]

Interaction that links the virtual and the real, and whether this distracts the user from the virtual experience, is not explored in depth in this project. This is worth exploring in depth in future work.

5.2.2 Integration of biomass and interactive devices

Interactive devices are designed to be easy to use, fast to run and virtually invisible. These are the key principles in Weiser's [53] for pervasive computing, which has driven decades of computing research and products. This vision enabled seamless interaction by designing for 'invisible' devices. But it also had a side effect in that the user-device relationship was not as close as it could be. Future work integrating living organisms (e.g. bacteria, plants) into wearable haptic devices is expected to improve the user-device relationship.

5.3 Result and Discussion

Using RTD research methods, I combine a range of user research methods related to humancomputer interaction and design to design this complete product, link it to immersive technologies, and then describe the design process and its interaction and technical characteristics. Finally, test results from user research are described and design findings and design thinking are presented.

In this paper, I present SOFT-MR, a small, portable and highly adaptable soft robot-based haptic device that provides hand-based haptic simulation. The non-invasive and lightweight design allows for a wide range of uses outside the laboratory environment. In particular, the design concept of interdependent wearability is introduced, offering a new possible improvement to address the isolation caused by immersive technologies. In addition, based on design practice, a completely soft robot fabrication toolkit has been developed for a wider audience of HCI researchers, interaction designers, artists etc. interested in soft robotics and haptic design, including a complete fabrication tooling and process methodology. The results of this design and research provide insights for researchers and practitioners who are interested in designing haptic experiences, and tangible interfaces and improving the user experience in VR.

Finally, the importance of considering how virtual experiences are designed is discussed through the design process of RTD. It is worthwhile for people to explore in depth how researching information technology can improve their health by reducing the negative effects of social isolation and loneliness, while promoting social engagement.

5.4 Design virtual experiences

People have been thinking about how to introduce these immersive experiences into public settings. If the device is made to be invisible and inaudible to others, how will bystanders interact with the user? Similar questions impede immersive experiences in public settings today, as bystanders are unable to discern the user's intentions or see the behaviours (e.g., hand gestures, posture, or gaze) associated with them when the user is wearing headphones [54].

Mixed reality technology allows people to interact between the virtual world and the real world, making it possible to merge the virtual world with the real world [9]. This technology has great potential to help people make greater progress in their learning, work and play. Based on design practice, the following aspects need to be summarised that need to be considered when designing virtual experiences.

- 1. To make mixed reality more inclusive, consider the following.
- 2. Make mixed reality technology easier to use. This includes ensuring that the technology is simple to operate, easy to understand and use, and has a good user experience.
- 3. Provide a mixed reality experience that is appropriate for different user groups. This can be achieved by designing applications that are appropriate for different age groups, cultural backgrounds and physical abilities.
- 4. Consider accessibility. Ensure that mixed reality technology is accessible to all.
- 5. Work in tandem with other technologies. Mixed reality technology should work in synergy with other technologies, such as artificial intelligence, to provide a richer and more meaningful experience.
- 6. Consider social and cultural implications. When designing and using mixed reality technology, its social and cultural impact should be considered.

As the use of immersive technologies becomes more widespread, it is essential to investigate the long-term effects of virtual experiences. Previous studies have indicated that readjusting to reality after removing a head-mounted display can be uncomfortable and that the distinction between real and virtual experiences may be blurred. In order to guarantee that immersive technologies do not pose any risks or intrusions, it is necessary to consider the potential psychological and social consequences of prolonged immersion in such technologies, particularly as more advanced and potentially addictive technologies are developed.

References

- [1] Frank Steinicke and Gerd Bruder. A self-experimentation report about long-term use of fully-immersive technology. In *Proceedings of the 2nd ACM symposium on Spatial user interaction*, pages 66–69, 2014.
- [2] Katja Rogers, Jana Funke, Julian Frommel, Sven Stamm, and Michael Weber. Exploring interaction fidelity in virtual reality: Object manipulation and whole-body movements. In *Proceedings of the 2019 CHI conference on human factors in computing systems*, pages 1–14, 2019.
- [3] Jan Gugenheimer, Evgeny Stemasov, Julian Frommel, and Enrico Rukzio. Sharevr: Enabling co-located experiences for virtual reality between hmd and non-hmd users. In *CHI*, volume 17, pages 4021–4033, 2017.
- [4] Jiwon Lee, Mingyu Kim, and Jinmo Kim. Rolevr: Multi-experience in immersive virtual reality between co-located hmd and non-hmd users. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, 79(1):979–1005, 2020.
- [5] Amal Yassien, Passant ElAgroudy, Elhassan Makled, and Slim Abdennadher. A design space for social presence in vr. In *Proceedings of the 11th Nordic Conference on Human-Computer Interaction: Shaping Experiences, Shaping Society*, pages 1–12, 2020.
- [6] Ross Johnstone, Neil McDonnell, and Julie R. Williamson. When virtuality surpasses reality: Possible futures of ubiquitous xr. 2022.
- [7] William Gaver. What should we expect from research through design? In *Proceedings* of the SIGCHI conference on human factors in computing systems, pages 937–946, 2012.
- [8] John Zimmerman, Erik Stolterman, and Jodi Forlizzi. An analysis and critique of research through design: towards a formalization of a research approach. In *proceedings* of the 8th ACM conference on designing interactive systems, pages 310–319, 2010.
- [9] John Zimmerman, Jodi Forlizzi, and Shelley Evenson. Research through design as a method for interaction design research in hci. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference* on Human factors in computing systems, pages 493–502, 2007.
- [10] Christopher Frayling. Research in art and design (royal college of art research papers, vol 1, no 1, 1993/4). 1994.

- [11] Marion Buchenau and Jane Fulton Suri. Experience prototyping. In *Proceedings of the 3rd conference on Designing interactive systems: processes, practices, methods, and techniques*, pages 424–433, 2000.
- [12] Bobby Nisha and Margaret Nelson. Making a case for evidence-informed decision making for participatory urban design. *Urban Design International*, 17(4):336–348, 2012.
- [13] Charles E Hughes, Christopher B Stapleton, Darin E Hughes, and Eileen M Smith. Mixed reality in education, entertainment, and training. *IEEE computer graphics and applications*, 25(6):24–30, 2005.
- [14] Maximilian Speicher, Brian D Hall, and Michael Nebeling. What is mixed reality? In Proceedings of the 2019 CHI conference on human factors in computing systems, pages 1–15, 2019.
- [15] Paul Milgram and Fumio Kishino. A taxonomy of mixed reality visual displays. *IEICE TRANSACTIONS on Information and Systems*, 77(12):1321–1329, 1994.
- [16] Nimesha Ranasinghe, Pravar Jain, Shienny Karwita, David Tolley, and Ellen Yi-Luen Do. Ambiotherm: enhancing sense of presence in virtual reality by simulating realworld environmental conditions. In *Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 1731–1742, 2017.
- [17] Faisal Arafsha, Kazi Masudul Alam, and Abdulmotaleb El Saddik. Emojacket: Consumer centric wearable affective jacket to enhance emotional immersion. In 2012 international conference on innovations in information technology (IIT), pages 350– 355. IEEE, 2012.
- [18] Nimesha Ranasinghe, Pravar Jain, Nguyen Thi Ngoc Tram, Koon Chuan Raymond Koh, David Tolley, Shienny Karwita, Lin Lien-Ya, Yan Liangkun, Kala Shamaiah, Chow Eason Wai Tung, et al. Season traveller: Multisensory narration for enhancing the virtual reality experience. In *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI conference on human factors in computing systems*, pages 1–13, 2018.
- [19] Pedro Lopes, Alexandra Ion, and Patrick Baudisch. Impacto: Simulating physical impact by combining tactile stimulation with electrical muscle stimulation. In *Proceedings* of the 28th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software & Technology, pages 11–19, 2015.
- [20] Robert Kovacs, Eyal Ofek, Mar Gonzalez Franco, Alexa Fay Siu, Sebastian Marwecki, Christian Holz, and Mike Sinclair. Haptic pivot: On-demand handhelds in vr. In Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology, pages 1046–1059, 2020.
- [21] Anthony Steed, Sebastian Friston, Vijay Pawar, and David Swapp. Docking haptics: Extending the reach of haptics by dynamic combinations of grounded and worn devices. In 26th ACM Symposium on Virtual Reality Software and Technology, pages 1–11, 2020.

- [22] Michael Rietzler, Katrin Plaumann, Taras Kränzle, Marcel Erath, Alexander Stahl, and Enrico Rukzio. Vair: Simulating 3d airflows in virtual reality. In *Proceedings of the* 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 5669–5677, 2017.
- [23] Zikun Chen, Roshan Lalintha Peiris, and Kouta Minamizawa. A thermal pattern design for providing dynamic thermal feedback on the face with head mounted displays. In *Proceedings of the Eleventh International Conference on Tangible, Embedded, and Embodied Interaction*, pages 381–388, 2017.
- [24] Roshan Lalintha Peiris, Wei Peng, Zikun Chen, Liwei Chan, and Kouta Minamizawa. Thermovr: Exploring integrated thermal haptic feedback with head mounted displays. In *Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 5452–5456, 2017.
- [25] Shigeo Yoshida, Yuqian Sun, and Hideaki Kuzuoka. Pocopo: Handheld pin-based shape display for haptic rendering in virtual reality. In *Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 1–13, 2020.
- [26] Cameron A Aubin, Benjamin Gorissen, Edoardo Milana, Philip R Buskohl, Nathan Lazarus, Geoffrey A Slipher, Christoph Keplinger, Josh Bongard, Fumiya Iida, Jennifer A Lewis, et al. Towards enduring autonomous robots via embodied energy. *Nature*, 602(7897):393–402, 2022.
- [27] Alin Albu-Schaffer, Oliver Eiberger, Markus Grebenstein, Sami Haddadin, Christian Ott, Thomas Wimbock, Sebastian Wolf, and Gerd Hirzinger. Soft robotics. *IEEE Robotics & Automation Magazine*, 15(3):20–30, 2008.
- [28] Katherine Isbister. Toward 'suprahuman' technology. *Proceedings of the Halfway to the Future Symposium 2019*, 2019.
- [29] Katherine Isbister, Kaho Abe, and Michael Karlesky. Interdependent wearables (for play): A strong concept for design. *human factors in computing systems*, 2017.
- [30] Giuseppe Riva, Francesco Vatalaro, and Fabrizio Davide. *Ambient intelligence: the evolution of technology, communication and cognition towards the future of human-computer interaction*, volume 6. IOS press, 2005.
- [31] Erik H Skorina, Ming Luo, and Cagdas D Onal. A soft robotic wearable wrist device for kinesthetic haptic feedback. *Frontiers in Robotics and AI*, 5:83, 2018.
- [32] Yiyue Luo, Kui Wu, Andrew Spielberg, Michael Foshey, Daniela Rus, Tomás Palacios, and Wojciech Matusik. Digital fabrication of pneumatic actuators with integrated sensing by machine knitting. In *CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 1–13, 2022.
- [33] Cayla Key, Fiona Browne, Nick Taylor, and Jon Rogers. Proceed with care: Reimagining home iot through a care perspective. In *Proceedings of the 2021 CHI Conference* on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 1–15, 2021.

- [34] Ester Fritsch, Irina Shklovski, and Rachel Douglas-Jones. Calling for a revolution: An analysis of iot manifestos. In *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI conference on human factors in computing systems*, pages 1–13, 2018.
- [35] Esther Jang, Matthew Johnson, Edward Burnell, and Kurtis Heimerl. Unplanned obsolescence: Hardware and software after collapse. In *Proceedings of the 2017 workshop on computing within limits*, pages 93–101, 2017.
- [36] Yoko Akama, Ann Light, and Takahito Kamihira. Expanding participation to design with more-than-human concerns. In *Proceedings of the 16th Participatory Design Conference 2020-Participation (s) Otherwise-Volume 1*, pages 1–11, 2020.
- [37] Sally Hughes, Kathryn Warren-Norton, Pat Spadafora, and Lia E Tsotsos. Supporting optimal aging through the innovative use of virtual reality technology. *Multimodal Technologies and Interaction*, 1(4):23, 2017.
- [38] Daniel Medeiros, Rafael Dos Anjos, Nadia Pantidi, Kun Huang, Maurício Sousa, Craig Anslow, and Joaquim Jorge. Promoting reality awareness in virtual reality through proxemics. In 2021 IEEE Virtual Reality and 3D User Interfaces (VR), pages 21–30. IEEE, 2021.
- [39] Simon Olberding, Michael Wessely, and Jürgen Steimle. Printscreen: fabricating highly customizable thin-film touch-displays. In *Proceedings of the 27th annual ACM symposium on User interface software and technology*, pages 281–290, 2014.
- [40] Walther Jensen, Ashley Colley, Jonna Häkkilä, Carlos Pinheiro, and Markus Löchtefeld. Transprint: A method for fabricating flexible transparent free-form displays. *Advances in Human-Computer Interaction*, 2019, 2019.
- [41] Arshad Khan, Joan Sol Roo, Tobias Kraus, and Jürgen Steimle. Soft inkjet circuits: rapid multi-material fabrication of soft circuits using a commodity inkjet printer. In *Proceedings of the 32nd Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*, pages 341–354, 2019.
- [42] Veronika Krau
 ß, Michael Nebeling, Florian Jasche, and Alexander Boden. Elements of xr prototyping: Characterizing the role and use of prototypes in augmented and virtual reality design. In CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, pages 1–18, 2022.
- [43] Louis B Rosenberg. Virtual fixtures: Perceptual tools for telerobotic manipulation. In Proceedings of IEEE virtual reality annual international symposium, pages 76–82. Ieee, 1993.
- [44] Christopher R Wagner, Robert D Howe, and Nicholas Stylopoulos. The role of force feedback in surgery: analysis of blunt dissection. In *Haptic Interfaces for Virtual Environment and Teleoperator Systems, International Symposium on*, pages 73–73. IEEE Computer Society, 2002.
- [45] Jean-Claude Metzger, Olivier Lambercy, and Roger Gassert. High-fidelity rendering of virtual objects with the rehapticknob-novel avenues in robot-assisted rehabilitation of hand function. In 2012 IEEE Haptics Symposium (HAPTICS), pages 51–56. IEEE, 2012.

- [46] Dorit H Aaron and Caroline W Stegink Jansen. Development of the functional dexterity test (fdt): construction, validity, reliability, and normative data. *Journal of Hand Therapy*, 16(1):12–21, 2003.
- [47] Dominic A Brandy. The o'connor tweezer dexterity test as a screening tool for hiring surgical hair restoration assistants. *The American Journal of Cosmetic Surgery*, 12(4):313–316, 1995.
- [48] Judith Amores, Xavier Benavides, and Pattie Maes. Showme: A remote collaboration system that supports immersive gestural communication. In *Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 1343–1348, 2015.
- [49] David Kirk, Tom Rodden, and Danaë Stanton Fraser. Turn it this way: grounding collaborative action with remote gestures. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, pages 1039–1048, 2007.
- [50] Yumeta Seki, Yu Kuwajima, Hiroki Shigemune, Yuhei Yamada, and Shingo Maeda. Optimization of the electrode arrangement and reliable fabrication of flexible end pumps. *Journal of Robotics and Mechatronics*, 32(5):939–946, 2020.
- [51] Yu Kuwajima, Hiroki Shigemune, Vito Cacucciolo, Matteo Cianchetti, Cecilia Laschi, and Shingo Maeda. Active suction cup actuated by electrohydrodynamics phenomenon. In 2017 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS), pages 470–475. IEEE, 2017.
- [52] Yujie Tao and Pedro Lopes. Integrating real-world distractions into virtual reality. In *Proceedings of the 35th Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*, pages 1–16, 2022.
- [53] Mark Weiser. The computer for the 21 st century. *Scientific american*, 265(3):94–105, 1991.
- [54] Pouya Eghbali, Kaisa Väänänen, and Tero Jokela. Social acceptability of virtual reality in public spaces: experiential factors and design recommendations. *mobile and ubiquitous multimedia*, 2019.
- [55] https://www.realite-virtuelle.com/films-en-realite-virtuelle-revolution
- [56] https://virtualspeech.com/blog/history-of-vr
- [57] https://numerized.com/augmented-reality/history-augmented-reality/ https://www.g2.com/articles/history-of-augmented-reality https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Augmented_reality#/media/File:ARC4_AR_System.jpg https://www.nytimes.com/2021/06/18/arts/london-art-walk-outdoor-sculpture.html
Appendix

Expert Interview Introduction: Hello, thank you for taking the time out of your busy schedule to participate in this expert interview. I am Kedong Chai from the School of Design, department of Industrial Design. I understand that you are a senior researcher (or designer) in the field of Human Computer interaction (or interaction design), and the purpose of this interview is to understand your insights and opinions on immersive technologies and wearable haptic devices. We hope you will feel free to share your insights and opinions, as they will be very helpful to our research. We have prepared some questions in advance and the interview will take about 20 minutes to complete. The content of the interview will be kept strictly confidential and will only be used for this study.

Part 0: General information

- 1. What are your main research interests in the field of human-computer interaction?
- 2. How long have you been involved in interaction design (years)?

Part 1: Immersive technologies

- 1. Do you know anything about immersive technologies (on a scale of 1-10)? Can you tell us briefly about your understanding of immersive technology?
- 2. What do you think are the main limitations that are currently preventing the widespread adoption of immersive technologies?
- 3. In our pre-survey, some people thought that immersive technology reduces interaction between people. What do you think are the reasons for this?
- 4. Do you think that current immersive technologies have to some extent contributed to social isolation (isolation and disconnection of people from each other)? What are your thoughts on this?
- 5. What solutions or measures do you think we can take to improve this phenomenon?

Part 2: Wearable haptic devices and immersive technologies My Master's project is intended to focus on promoting social connection and inclusion in mixed reality through the design work of wearable haptic devices.

- 1. Do you know anything about wearable haptic devices (on a scale of 1-10)? Can you talk briefly about your understanding of wearable haptic devices?
- 2. What impact do you think wearable haptic devices have on immersive experiences? Are they essential? Why?

- 3. Can you imagine a haptic device in an immersive technology context and what kind of design do you think would allow more people to be included in an interactive experience with immersive technology?
- 4. Currently, most haptic devices are used in laboratory environments. What solutions or measures do you think we can take to promote the popularity of haptic devices?

Part 3: Multi-person interaction control for wearable haptic devices

- 1. In your previous work or the work of other researchers, are there any examples that stand out to you that encourage people to socialise with others in the same place? Can you share any examples?
- 2. Currently, most haptic devices only support single-person interaction control, is there a need for multi-person interaction control for wearable haptic devices? How do you anticipate users will react?
- 3. Do you think it would be acceptable to create a backstory with multi-person interaction needs so users can connect (e.g. two "creatures" that have the potential to make a connection but need to be controlled by the user) in addition to controlling multi-person interaction based on the user's own needs? Do you think this fictional backstory would enhance the social experience?